

Cooperation between Horizon 2020 Projects in the field of Smart Grids and Energy Storage

Main findings and recommendations

Customer Engagement Working Group

July 2019

Legal Notice

This document has been prepared for the European Commission however it reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

More information on the European Union is available on the Internet (http://www.europa.eu)



This report has been elaborated with the support of DOWEL MANAGEMENT within the INTENSYS4EU Coordination and Support Action. The INTENSYS4EU Project supports the BRIDGE activities and has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 731220.





. . . .

Authors of the present report

Name	Organisation	E-mail	Project
Thomas N. Mikkelsen (TNM)	VaasaETT	Thomas.mikkelsen@vaasaett.com	FLEXICIENCY
Konstantinos Chalvatzis (KC)	University of East Anglia	K.Chalvatzis@uea.ac.uk	TILOS
Xin Li (XL)	University of East Anglia	x.li18@uea.ac.uk	TILOS
Daniel Tawil- Jamault (DTJ)	DOWEL Management	daniel.tawil@dowel.eu	Support team
Dejan Paravan (DP)	GEN-I	Dejan.paravan@gen-i.eu	FutureFlow
Mary Barreto (MBa)	Prsma	mary.barreto@prsma.com	SMILE
Maarten Bijnens (MBi)	Th!nk E	maarten.bijnens@flux50.com	STORY
Joseph Negreira (JN)	Smart Innovation Norway	Joseph.negreira@smartinnovationnorway.com	INVADE
Ludwig Karg (LK)	B.A.U.M. Consult GmbH	contact@elsa-h2020.eu	ELSA
Martin Watson (MW)	Prospex Institute	martin.watson@prospex-institute.org	STORY
Alvaro Sanchez Miralles (ASM)	Comillas University	alvaro@comillas.edu	UPGRID
Sarah Darby (SD)	University of Oxford	Sarah.darby@eci.ox.ac.uk	REALVALUE
Kostadin Fikiin (KF)	Technical University - Sofia	agf@tu-sofia.bg	CryoHub





Leading team of the BRIDGE Working Group on Customer Engagement

Chairman of the Working Group

Name	Organisation	E-mail	Project
Alvaro Nofuentes	ETRA	anofuentes.etraid@grupoetra.co	WISEGRID
Prieto		<u>m</u>	

Guidance from European Commission

Name	Organisation	E-mail
Szilvia Bozsoki	DG ENER	Szilvia.BOZSOKI@ec.europa.eu
Eero Ailio	DG ENER	eero.ailio@ec.europa.eu

Editor

Name	Organisation	E-mail	Project
Nicolas Peraudeau	DOWEL MANAGEMENT	nicolas.peraudeau@dowel.eu	INTENSYS4EU





Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION TO THE BRIDGE INITIATIVE
PURPOSE OF THE INITIATIVE
BRIDGE Working Groups 4
PROJECTS INVOLVED IN THE CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT WORKING GROUP
PRESENTATION OF THE REPORT
CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT CYCLE
WHAT DID NOT WORK – THE CHALLENGE OF CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT
GETTING CUSTOMERS ON BOARD
KEEPING CUSTOMERS HAPPY AND ENGAGED
WHAT WORKED – BEST PRACTICES 10
CUSTOMERS' NEEDS AND THE VALUE PROVIDED: 5C AND A LOCAL SOCIAL NETWORK FOR LONG- TERM ENGAGEMENT10
ANALYSIS OF THE LOCAL SOCIO-TECHNICAL SYSTEM TO IDENTIFY NEEDS AND VALUES 10
CONSTANT CONTACT BETWEEN CONSUMERS AND (LOCAL) PARTNERS11
RECOMMENDATIONS12
A DEDICATED BUDGET FOR CUSTOMER ENGAGEMENT INITIATIVES
Users before technology or Bring the social scientists and technologists together
BUILDING TRUST RIGHT FROM THE START THROUGH LOCAL ACTORS
WHEN IT COMES TO BENEFITS, BE HONEST AND APPEAL TO CONTEXT RELATED VALUES13
DURING THE PROJECT RESERVE TIME TO COMMUNICATE AND BE WITH THE USERS13
ALLOW FOR KNOWLEDGE EXCHANGE EXPERIENCES WITH SIMILAR PROJECTS
RESOURCES
CONCLUSIONS

• • • • •

.





Introduction to the BRIDGE initiative

Purpose of the initiative

BRIDGE is a cooperation group involving Low Carbon Energy (LCE) Smart-Grid and Energy Storage projects funded under the Horizon 2020 program over the last five years (2014-2018). It aims to foster the exchange of information, experience, knowledge and best practices among its members.

BRIDGE wants to provide field experience, feedback and lessons learned from the participating projects to help overcome the barriers to effective innovation. It aims to gather coordinated, balanced and coherent recommendations to strengthen the messages and maximize their impacts towards policy makers in view of removing barriers to innovation deployment.

BRIDGE Working Groups

This cooperation group involves four different types of activities (Working Groups) addressing cross-cutting issues enlisted as follows:

Data Management

- Communication Infrastructure, embracing the technical and non-technical aspects of the communication infrastructure needed to exchange data and the related requirements
- Cybersecurity and Data Privacy, entailing data integrity, customer privacy and protection
- Data Handling, including the framework for data exchange and related roles and responsibilities, together with the technical issues supporting the exchange of data in a secure and interoperable manner, and the data analytics techniques for data processing

Regulations

. . .

- As regards to energy storage, the regulatory framework needs to provide clear rules and responsibilities concerning ownership, competition, technical modalities and financial conditions, for island and mainland cases
- In terms of **smart grids**, regulatory challenges arise regarding the incentives for demand-side response, commercial arrangements, smart meter data, etc.

Customer Engagement

- Customer Segmentation, analysis of cultural, geographical and social dimensions,
- Value systems Understanding Customers
- Drivers for Customer Engagement
- · Effectiveness of Engagement Activities
- Identification of what triggers **behavioral changes** (e.g. via incentives)
- The **Regulatory** Innovation to Empower Consumers

Business Models

- Defining common language and frameworks around business model description and valuation
- Identifying and evaluating existing and new or innovative business models from the project demonstrations or use cases
- The development of a **simulation tool** allowing for the comparison of the **profitability of different business models** applicable to smart grids and energy storage solutions is being developed and tested by the Working Group members





Projects involved in the Customer Engagement Working Group







Presentation of the report

This booklet was composed by members of BRIDGE, an initiative of the European Commission, which brings together Horizon 2020 Smart Grid and Energy Storage projects to create a structured view of cross-cutting issues encountered in the demonstration projects. It is motivated by the call of the European Commission to strengthen consumer-citizen engagement. The new proposal for Horizon Europe published in June 2018 includes MISSIONS as an important novelty, with the aim being to enable the innovation and research agenda to reconnect with citizens and involving them in shaping the future of Europe. The BRIDGE Initiative already identified the topic of customer engagement and customer values in its previous report of 2015-2018 and now picks up on this important issue with a focus on the Customer Engagement Cycle. The work described in this booklet focuses on establishing a process for understanding customers' values and how projects can adopt and implement these to achieve a long-term engagement of consumers in energy projects. For this purpose, the booklet summarizes how demonstration projects have approached their customers in the field and gives an overview of what worked and, equally important, what did not work.

A total of 20 demonstration projects were contacted, from which 10 accepted to collaborate and be interviewed to gather this information. The projects involved were: INVADE (3 demonstration sites Bulgaria, Spain and Germany), GRIDSOL, InteGrid, RealValue, FutureFlow, NETfficient, STORY and GOFLEX. The interviews addressed the roles of consumers in the project, their approach to customer needs and values, strategies to address these, changes over time, and recommendations for future projects or EU calls.

A summary of the results is described in the following sections, starting with a list of the most common challenges when it comes to customer values, followed by a description of the best practices examples with strategies used by the projects that worked to have full customer engagement and involvement. A description of each section is provided including either direct quotes or paraphrased statements from the interviewees. And finally, recommendations provided by the project contact points to future projects.





Customer Engagement Cycle

Addressing Customers Values: "Establish a Process for Understanding Customers' Values and how to address them during the Project".





What did not work – The challenge of Customer Engagement

Getting Customers on Board

A major challenge that was faced by many of the customer engagement professionals interviewed from the different projects was to mobilize and engage customers in research projects. In many cases, the customer engagement strategy was fairly limited and was built solely around offering customers savings on their energy bill, resulting in rather low customer motivation to participate and, thus, difficulties for the project to find consumers with their demos. While the monetary aspect seemed to work, at least partly, in some projects with residential consumers as a motivation for customer engagement, monetary incentives were not as successful for other projects, especially the ones conducted in wealthier areas. In these cases, securing engagement seemed to require a focus on the innovative aspects of the research project and on offering customers added value, such as an overview of their energy consumption in real time. This further highlights the need for gathering information on potential customers that are to be engaged in the research project, to better develop a motivator that will work with them.

"For engagement of residential consumer, don't begin with technology first but with people (...) understand people's problems and think how we can improve their life" **InteGrid**

"When engaging customers, you really need to have a good story of what is the benefit for them (...) it needs to be a specific interest for them but it definitely helps if those interests are in line with those trends, being eco, being technologically advanced, being self-consumption energy efficient" **FutureFlow**

Another angle of this challenge was the difficulty to establish a relationship with the customers when the partners of a research project were not active at a local level. It seemed that customer engagement was much easier if customers were approached by a local partner from the project with good reputation on the field.

"Have middle actors that talk to the customers and learn from the customers" RealValue

"If a partner has an image this will help to reach more customers and will help in delivering the message" **FutureFlow**

Finally, the complexity of the technology developed in the research projects was often referred to as one of the main challenges to attract customers and engage them in the research. It was often assumed that customers had more extensive knowledge than they actually had, therefore the information that was provided to them was difficult for them to understand. Misunderstanding of the aim of the projects often led to difficulties in the engagement process. Underestimating – rather than overestimating - the initial knowledge of the customers and planning for the effort needed in explaining technical aspects to customers is a helpful strategy to implement a successful engagement strategy.





Keeping Customers Happy and Engaged

Energy research projects are scarcely answering direct needs from the customers. Customers are often already enjoying a stable energy supply before engaging in research projects. When new pieces of equipment or a monitoring system are put in place on their premises, it is important to make sure these will not negatively affect their initial comfort and satisfaction. While it is often difficult, in the case of research projects, to fully ensure that no disturbance will come to the customers, it is important to take the time of thoroughly explaining the risks to the customers.

"End consumers knew they would have to open the door many times. You should not underestimate the burden you put on the consumers. People need to take a day off" **STORY**

Another important challenge to keep in mind when engaging stakeholders in research projects is to avoid overburdening them. For example, the number of visits made at customer's premises to install or monitor equipment needs to be kept at a minimal as this often requires the customer to be present for a certain period of time. It has been observed, when these visits are too frequent due to equipment failure or over monitoring, that customers grow unhappy and are often reluctant to stay engage in the project.

Finally, communication was often cited as one of the biggest challenges when it comes to keeping customers engaged. Customers need to be regularly informed of the development of the project, but most importantly, for relevant cases, they need to have access to a communication point they can easily reach in case of equipment failure or other emergencies. Proper communication channels have to be designed and put in place in the initial planning of the project to avoid having customers feeling like they have been left alone. Ultimately, without proper communication, customers could decide to quit the project.

"It is very important that you are prepared to answer questions of any sorts at any time" **STORY**

"You have to underestimate the end consumer, both when it comes to his acceptance level and is capability of understanding what it is you do" **STORY**

"Have a dedicated budget for the communication of the project to the final customer, or the regular citizen. When this user is difficult to reach, like our case where they don't know what is coming or anything about the future energy market, you should have in the call, an automatic budget to bring specialists that can explain in a very simple way what the project goals are" **INVADE**





What worked – best practices

Customers' needs and the value provided: 5C and a local social network for long-term engagement

The key to successful consumer engagements is the shift from technology-push towards a needs-based approach: This means to identify consumers' needs and make sure that the project creates value for consumers that address these needs. Findings from H2020-energy projects, especially the RealValue project, have found the 5C to be key values for consumers: The most important value that emerged for consumers in the project were:

- (reduced) Costs
- and (increased) Comfort.

In addition, three other factors were identified as being essential for good customer experience and engagement:

• Control, Connectivity and Care.

All three are related to communication: people-tech (control), people-people (care) and techtech (connectivity).

For demand response management as a specific case of customer engagement a key challenge emerges, namely the long-term engagement of customers, especially if the demand changes, e.g. peak load shifting, are not in line with the aforementioned factors, e.g. not offering (a valuable) cost reduction or a decrease rather than increase in comfort. Gamification approaches have been tried for this purpose but usually do not lead to long-term engagement beyond the so-called "honey-moon period". The H2020-project InteGrid is currently testing a novel and promising approach to address this: InteGrid identified the need of Swedish consumers for stronger social bonds with their neighbors and addresses this need by developing Local Life – a local social (online) network which will also be used for providing energy feedback and awards for community energy saving effort, thus, addressing environmental and social sustainability and offering true value to consumers.

"It is all about creating value. We need to be better in solving everyday-life problems!" InteGrid

Analysis of the local socio-technical system to identify needs and values

Customer engagement demands, from installation of new technologies via demand response management to becoming active prosumers, differ a lot between projects. The same is true for the local contexts that (intentionally) represent a broad variety living situations in Europe. And as the examples below illustrate, the key needs of consumers and related values that the projects could offer differ in the same way and require specific local approaches, e.g. role of monetary incentives versus environmental feedback/incentive depend on peoples' living situation and current energy prices. A customer analysis in an early stage is accordingly mentioned as success factor in many projects. A local company could help for this step by providing data on consumers and/or facilitate contact for further data collection. Based on this





analysis, different engagement mechanisms should be used – with the needs and values mentioned above providing suggestions on what mechanisms might be central.

"We have one member that is responsible for collecting this information (...) we use the people who have expertise on this, they have their own tools" **Gridsol**

Constant contact between consumers and (local) partners

While a local adaptation of the engagement mechanisms is a key success factor, the following best practice was named in several projects and seems generally applicable: Establishing from project start to project end (and at best beyond this) an ongoing communication with consumers in the project and this role is best taken by local contact persons and/or organizations which already have strong social bonds with consumers, know their needs, have a communication network and, most important, are trusted by consumers.

The projects NETfficient, GoFlex or INVADE are good examples for how the integration of e.g. a local (trusted) energy suppliers or other local organizations as an intermediary could facilitate the contact with costumers. The local proximity also helps with in-person meetings with consumers, including inspections of the new technologies and their use at home (which might not be as intended as the report from RealValue shows) and also helps to bridge comprehension problems between different actors, e.g. between the installers and the producing company.

"The strategies we used worked perfectly (...) first the mailing to give an impression about the project, then to give them a few days to think about it, then some days to call them and then to visit them personally" **INVADE**





Recommendations

The demonstration sites were either business-to-business or business to customer. Some project managers could not clearly identify the direct customer. The interviews then focused on extracting information about customer initiatives or indirect impact of those projects to the targeted end user. The diverse definitions on customers indicate further work needs to be completed to broaden the definition of customers more clearly within projects. Only then, can projects determine a process to address customer values or carry out customer engagement initiatives. As a result of this, this section lists recommendations for future calls directly from the projects but also, from the best practices. Six recommendations have been identified from which four refer to strategies to be applied before reaching the users and while preparing the call and two specific recommendations while the project is being conducted.

A dedicated budget for customer engagement initiatives

Contacting local actors and experts from social sciences requires financial and human resources, calls should include specific budget to be used for the recruitment of local partners, field visits, and communication activities throughout the project with the customers. In addition, the budget should support exploration-based activities that allows for projects the enough time and resources to clearly define and identify the customer segments they will be working with. The dedicated budget could be a portion of the overall project, which could range from 5% to 10% of the overall project for initial recruitment stages and up to 30% if local training is used to have local partners conduct the ongoing engagement work in the field. This number would have to be further analysed with more projects.

Users before technology or Bring the social scientists and technologists together

Project calls have focused mainly in technology leaving out the main targets of the interventions. This creates obstacles in the initial phases of user recruitment as it makes it difficult to get users involved in the projects, which compromise the timelines projects need to respect to deliver in time the aimed reports. A needs-based approach is the best strategy – give users voice, collect the needs first and develop the interventions around those needs. This will help to reduce the recruitment issues since involving social sciences, means bringing the experts on human and needs analysis. They will provide the know how in terms of best methodology to approach customers.

Building trust right from the start through local actors

When preparing for a call project leader should reach local companies or associations that have roots within the community. Calls should then have space and specific budget allocation for entities to research which local actors are integrated into the communities and how to bring them into the projects. These people or associations will help recruit and advertise the project, identify the main community needs but also, bring users to become involved in the project. Recruitment is a time-consuming task, and local relationships help to break the initial barriers when a project is just first starting.





When it comes to benefits, be honest and appeal to context related values

During the project it is important to define very clearly to the user what the benefits will be by participating in the project. In the case of energy and demand response, the customers are already driven by environmentally friendly values, although financial and comfort values do play a role, these offer often very minimal gains in the short term. It is important to promise benefits the projects do think they will be able to deliver within its scope, especially regarding monetary incentives. Several demonstration pilots mentioned that environmental values help the users to be engaged for longer periods of time and feel more integrated. Yet, the findings also show that the role of monetary incentives versus environmental incentives, depend also on peoples' living situation and current energy prices and that local adaptation is key.

During the project reserve time to communicate and be with the users

During the project it is important to have dedicated and diversified communication channels with the users as this helps them feel satisfied and involved in the project. Communication with the users should be clear, constant without being intrusive which means communicating in shorter periods of time (don't stay too long without saying anything to users). Discuss with users, using whichever channels they feel more comfortable with, whether these are telephone calls, personal visits, surveys or text messaging. In addition, make sure customers are aware of the efforts needed from their part throughout the project, and the equipment has been properly certified and tested. Projects should then consider having specific partners that take responsibility for this task, and work on it full time. When planning in person visits make sure enough time resources and strategies have been considered to reduce time and effort needed, while keeping the users always informed in case unforeseen events do take place.

Allow for knowledge exchange experiences with similar projects

Communication with similar projects helps addressing and discussing issues, joining efforts to solve what could be common problems. One strategy would be the creation of events, workshops or structures to improve communication between projects and other partners, or other projects working in similar areas. Not all partners have the same level of knowledge and these experience exchange events could help leverage it to promote more successful customer engagement.

"Share information and learn from others, having common events like BRIDGE or workshops, it is important to compare to what others are doing in other projects" **Gridsol**





Resources

For further information on best practices please see:

For the analysis of customers' needs and values interesting methodological approaches can be found in the RealValue project which used a large variety of qualitative methods (see for an overview of the methods and findings in the project):

Real Value Consumer Impact Report 2018

See also the <u>book chapter</u> derived from the project on data management in large, multidisciplinary energy projects:

Higginson, S., Topouzi, M., Andrade-Cabrera, C., O'Dwyer, C., Darby, S., & Finn, D. (2018). Achieving Data Synergy: The Socio-Technical Process of Handling Data. In *Advancing Energy Policy* (pp. 63-81). Palgrave Pivot, Cham.

Or the new storytelling-technology used in the InteGrid-project that was designed to allow for an easy replication in other projects and showed very positive results for both customer engagement and analysis:

Consumer engagement strategies - InteGrid deliverable





Conclusions

Customer engagement can be challenging for projects from the initial stages of assessing knowledge base and values to bringing customers to the project, but also keeping them involved throughout its duration. Future calls should include dedicated budgets for projects to explore the customer segments in terms of their contextual needs and values, provide enough time and resources to reach local actors integrated in the communities but also, continuous support projects can be of use to keep communication clear and constant with their customers. All of this will be needed if we are to achieve the ambitious goals of the European Commission on a research and innovation agenda that put people, their values, needs and interest, at the center and shape an environmentally and socially sustainable Europe.





Brochure developed by DOWEL MANAGEMENT within the INTENSYS4EU Coordination and Support Action (H2020 Grant Agreement n° 731220)

More information at http://www.h2020-bridge.eu/